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Summary

In May 2009 Oxford Archaeology (OA) carried out a watching brief during a
geotechnical testpitting exercise, within a car park at Tipping Street, Stafford. The
work was carried out on behalf of CgMs Consulting Ltd, as part of a pre-planning
application. A thick deposit of soil, which may have have formed a fill of the
medieval town ditch, was observed in the south of the site and was cut by a 19th- or
20th-century pit. A thick layer of garden or cultivation soil overlay much of the site,
which was truncated by the foundations of 19th- or 20th-century buildings.
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Location and scope of work

In May 2009 Oxford Archaeology (OA) carried out a watching brief during a
geotechnical testpitting exercise, within a car park at Tipping Street, Stafford (Fig. 1).
The work was carried out on behalf of CgMs Consulting Ltd, as part of a pre-planning
application and following consultation Steve Dean, Staffordshire County Archaeologist.
The development site measures 0.74 hectares and is bound to the north by Tipping
street, to the south by South Walls, to the east by Appleyard Court and to the west by
Greengate Street.

Geology and topography

Stafford is located in the River Sow valley, above its confluence with the River Trent.
The site lies on the sand and gravel river terraces, which seal the Mercian Mudstone.
Rising to a height of 76 m OD. Evidence from earlier excavations suggest the use of
the terraces dates back to the Roman period and continues to the present day.

Archaeological and historical background

The archaeological background of the site was the subject of two desk based
assessments (Wilkinson and Walters 1997; CgMs 2008), which are summarised below.

The site itself has produced limited archaeological evidence, but several adjacent sites
and locations with archaeological remains are known.

Stafford was founded by Aethelflaeda, King Alfred's granddaughter, as a defended
burgh by 913 AD. Domesday records Stafford as the main town of the county in 1086.
Roman and Saxon/early medieval waterlogged deposits and pottery were recorded
during nearby excavations at Clark Street, the evidence was indicative of the
reclamation of a pre-Roman marsh. A late Saxon kiln and associated pits were
identified at Eastgate Street.

An evaluation trench and two excavation areas at Tipping Street also identified late-
Saxon activity. The activity comprised a phase of domestic activity, in the form of
posthole structures and shallow pits, followed by a phase of pottery (Stafford ware)
production. The later evidence comprised two kilns, a lined well, a wattle-lined-feature,
and possible post-built structures. Stafford ware pottery was also recovered from
dumped deposits in the garden of St Chad's Vicarage.

In 1999 Oxford Archaeological Unit (now OA) conducted an evaluation within the
proposed development area. This work identified the presence of medieval pits in the
northern area of the site, indicative of settlement activity. In the southern side of the site
a large east-west orientated ditch was identified, which is thought to represent the
medieval town boundary. Pottery recovered from the ditch was dated from the 12th-
15th centuries, and is suggestive of a date prior to the building of the main town wall.

Historic maps indicate that the central area of the site was not built on until the late 19th
century. The 1881 OS map shows that a large part to the area was used as an
ornamental garden.
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Aims
To identify and record the presence/absence, extent, condition, quality and date of
archaeological remains in the area affected by development works.

To make available the results of the archaeological investigation.

Methodology

The watching brief comprised the monitoring and recording of 16 machine-excavated
(JCB) geotechnical testpits (Fig. 2). The work was carried out using a toothless ditching
bucket, and all excavation was carried out under close archaeological supervision.

Any exposed features were hand excavated and recorded archaeologically. All work on
the project was undertaken in accordance with relevant professional standards.

All archaeological features were planned at a scale of 1:20 and sections drawn at 1:20.
A general photographic record of the work was made, followed procedures detailed in
the OA Fieldwork Manual (OAU 1992).
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3 ResuLts
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Introduction and presentation of results

The stratigraphic sequence of each testpit is presented below. The archaeological
features observed comprised a possible tanning pit (1000) within Testpit 209; the
feature had been previously recorded in the 1999 evaluation (Trench G, pit 600). A
19th- or 20th-century brick surface (1006) was recorded within Testpit 212, and similarly
dated walls were recorded within Testpits 201, 202, 204, 205 and 210.

Test Pits

Testpit 201 (Figs 2 and 3, Section 2)

Testpit 201 was aligned north-west to south-east and measured 3.6 m by 0.6 m. The
natural sand and gravel was revealed 1.5 m below ground level. It was overlain by 1.2
m of garden soil deposits, below 0.2 m of rubbly soil below 0.05 m of tarmac. The
foundations of two 19th-century walls (1003 and 1004) were cut through the soil layers.
The walls were north-west to south-east and south-west to north-east aligned, and
were constructed from unfrogged red bricks, measuring 0.24 m by 0.11 m by 0.07 m,
and laid in a stretcher bond. The walls were up to 10 courses high and up to 0.35 m
wide, and probably formed part of a cellar. Demolition rubble abutted wall 1003.

Testpit 202 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 202 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 2.7 m long by 0.8 m
wide. It was excavated to a depth of 1.2 m and halted due to a 20th century wall (1005)
and service pipe running through the centre of the trench. The stratigraphy comprised
modern made ground (demolition), below tarmac. Wall 1005 was constructed from red
frogged bricks measuring 0.24 m by 0.11 m by 0.07 m.

Testpit 203 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 203 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 4.1 m long by 0.7 m
wide. The natural sand and gravel was revealed at 1.9 m below ground level, and was
overlain by 0.9 m of soils. The soils were sealed by a 0.3 m thick layer of greyish blue
clay, which was overlain by 0.5 m of rubbly soil below 0.2 m of make-up and a tarmac
surface.

Testpit 204 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 204 was north-west to south-east aligned, 2.2 m long and 1.6 m wide. Natural
dark yellow sand was observed 1.5 m bellow the ground level. Above the sand was a
0.8 m thick deposit of dark brown silty loam soil. The soil was overlain by a 0.5 m thick
layer of dark brown silty loam and building rubble, which was overlain by 0.2 m of
tarmac. The test pit was relocated 0.5 m east due to a concrete wall footing for a
19th/20th century wall (1008) in the western section of the trench, 0.5 m below ground
level.

Testpit 205 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 205 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 2.9 m long by 1.25 m
wide. The test pit was relocated 0.5 m east due to a modern ceramic service pipe.
Natural orange sand was observed at a depth of 1.45 m. The sand was overlain by 1.25
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3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8
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3.2.11

m of building rubble, below 0.2 m of make-up and tarmac. A 19th/20th century brick wall
(1009) was located in section at the northern end of the test pit. The wall was 0.5 m
high and constructed from unfrogged red bricks. The backfill of the 1999 Evaluation
Trench | was observed at the southern end of the trench.

Testpit 206 (Figs 2 and 3, Section 4; Plate 1)

Testpit 206 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 2.2 m long by 0.6 m
wide. Natural brownish orange sand was observed at a depth of 2.5 m below ground
level. Overlying the natural sand was a 2.2 m thick deposit of dark brown silty loam
garden soils. The soil was overlain by 0.2 m of rubbly make-up for a tarmac surface.

Testpit 207 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 207 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 2.6 m long by 0.9 m
wide. It was excavated to a maximum depth of 0.6 m due to the presence of modern
services. Dark brown garden soils were observed at 0.6 m, which were overlain by
0.25 m of yellow sand below 0.2 m of levelling for a 0.15 m thick tarmac surface.

Testpit 208 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 208 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 2.6 m long by 0.9 m
wide. Natural dark brown sand was observed at 3 m below ground level, and was
overlain by 1 m of mottled brownish orange natural or potentially redeposited sand.
The sand was overlain by 1.25 m of soils below 0.45 m of rubbly soil. The rubble layer
was overlain by 0.2 m of make-up for 0.1 m of tarmac.

Testpit 209 (Figs 2 and 3, Section 6; Plate2)

Testpit 209 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 2.4 m long by 0.8 m
wide. The testpit was located within the backfill of the 1999 Evaluation Trench G. The
testpit was 2.9 m deep and natural geology was not reached. The lowest deposits
comprised 2.3 m of garden soils/pit fills. A pit (1000) was cut into the top of the soils,
measuring 0.25 m deep it was filled by silty clays. The pit was excavated during the
1999 evaluation (600) and interpreted as a 18th- to 19th-century tanning pit. The pit
fills were overlain by 0.45 m of trench backfill and 0.15 m of tarmac and its associated
makeup.

Testpit 210 (Fig 2)

Testpit 210 was south-west to north-east aligned and measured 2.4 m long by 0.8 m
wide. Natural dark orange sand was observed 2.5 below ground level. Overlying the
sand was 1.7 m of dark brown garden soils below 0.4 m of rubbly soil, overlain by 0.4
m of make-up for a tarmac surface. A19th/20th-century brick cellar wall (1007) cut
through the garden soils, and was infilled with rubble.

Testpit 211 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 211 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 5 m long by 0.8 m
wide. Natural sand with gravel inclusions was revealed 1.5 m below the ground surface
but excavation was limited by the presence of a modern service trench. A total of 1.2 m
of dark brown garden soils overlay the sand, which were overlain by 0.3 m of levelling
deposits for a tarmac surface.
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3.2.13

3.2.14

3.2.15

3.2.16

Testpit 212 (Fig 2; Plate 3)

Testpit 212 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 2 m long by 0.75 m
wide. A modern brick floor/surface was revealed 0.15 m to 0.3 m below ground level.
The surface was laid in a stretcher bond and sloped from south to north. The surface
was overlain by makeup for the tarmac surface.

Test pit 213 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 213 was south-west to north-east aligned and measured 2.4 m long by 0.7 m
wide. Natural dark orange sand was observed 1.7m below ground level. A 1.35 m thick
deposit of dark brown silty loam garden soils, overlay the sand, and was overlain by
two layers of 0.1 m of rubble-rich silty loam (0.2 m in total). Make-up for the modern
tarmac overlay the deposits (0.15 m thick).

Test pit 214 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 214 was north-west to south-east aligned and measured 3.1 m long by 0.8 m
wide. Natural light brown sand with gravel inclusions was revealed at 1.8 m below
ground level. The sand was overlain by 1.1 m of building rubble, which was overlain by
0.3 m of rubble-rich silty loam. The deposits were overlain by 0.3 m of make-up for a
tarmac surface (0.1 m).

Test Pit 215 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 215 was west-east aligned and measured 2.65 m long by 0.7 m wide. Natural
mottled orange brown sand was observed at 1.9 m. A 1.6 m deposit of dark brown silty
loam garden soils overlay the sand, and was overlain by 0.3 m of make-up for a tarmac
surface.

Test Pit 216 (Fig. 2)

Testpit 216 was west-east aligned and measured 3.3 m long by 0.6 m wide. Natural
light yellow sand was observed at 1.1 m, and was overlain by a 0.2 m thick layer of
darker yellow sand with small stone inclusions. The sand was overlain by 0.6 m of dark
brown silty loam garden soils below 0.3 m of make-up for a tarmac surface.

© Oxford Archaeology Page 8 of 12 July 2009
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4 DiscussioN AND CONCLUSIONS

411

41.2

41.3

The results of the testpitting mirror that of the 1999 evaluation. A thick deposit of soil
was present across the site, but due to the depth of the testpits, it could not be cleaned
and differences between soil layers were not observed. Across the site the soil
generally increased in depth from north to south, but it is feasible that in the deeper
areas the soils may have filled unseen cut features. Of note was Testpit 209, which
was excavated to a depth of 2.9 m without natural geology being observed. It is likely
that the soil deposits within this testpit filled the medieval town ditch observed in the
1999 evaluation. An 18th- or 19th-century pit was cut through the ditch fills.

In general the soil is indicative of the area being used for arable land or pasture and
latterly backyards. Settlement is concentrated along the northern and southern street
frontages where 19th- or 20th-century cellared buildings were evident. The concrete
footing observed in Testpit 204 may relate to an associated outbuilding or garden wall.

In conclusion, based on the results of the evaluation (OAU 1999) and watching brief,
the soil layers present across the site are likely to overly significant medieval
occupation evidence in the north of the site, and the town ditch in the south of the site.
There is also potential for evidence of Saxon activity to survive. It would appear that the
construction and demolition of the post-medieval housing has had relatively little impact
on the archaeological remains within the site.
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AprpPENDIX A. CoNTEXT INVENTORY

Context no. |Type Testpit Comment

1000 cut TP209 18th/19th C Tanning pit

1001 fill TP209 Fill of 1000

1002 fill TP209 Fill of 1000

1003 wall TP201 19th/20th century wall

1004 wall TP201 19th/20th century wall

1005 wall TP202 20th century wall

1006 surface TP212 19th/20th century brick surface

1007 wall TP210 19th/20th century wall

1008 wall TP204 20th century foundation

1009 wall TP205 19th/20th century wall
© Oxford Archaeology Page 10 of 12
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AprpPenDIX C. Summary oF SiTe DeTaiLs

Site name: Tipping Street, Stafford, Staffordshire

Site code: STTIPO9

Grid reference: SJ 9235 2315

Type: Watching Brief

Date and duration: 21-05-09 to 28-05-09

Area of site: 0.74 hectares

Summary of results: Fill of the medieval town ditch overlain by cultivation/garden soils.

19th- or 20th-century tanning pit also observed. 19th- or 20th-century wall foundations
observed along Tipping Street and South Walls.

Location of archive: The archive is currently held at OA, Janus House, Osney Mead,
Oxford, OX2 OES, and will be deposited with the Potteries Museum in due course, under the
following accession number: tha
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Figure 1: Site location
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Plate 1: Testpit 206, looking north

Plate 2: Testpit 209, looking north

Plate 3: Testpit 212, looking north - surface 1006
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